Laura C. O'Neill. A Usability Study of E-book Platforms. A Master's Paper for the M.S. in L.S degree. April, 2009. 76 pages. Advisor: Deborah Barreau.

While e-books offer great potential for academic libraries, research has shown that usability issues can prevent readers from reading e-books or from using certain ebook functions. This study presents the results of usability testing on the platforms of three of the largest aggregators of academic e-books: ebrary, MyiLibrary, and Ebook Library. In addition to learning about the usability of these specific platforms, this research provides greater insight into the usability issues that students encounter while reading e-books and a deeper understanding of how e-books can meet the academic needs of students. Five undergraduate and five graduate students participated in testing, completing a series of tasks in each platform. Testing revealed several usability issues. Students want flexible navigational options, including the ability to scroll. Additionally, students enjoy certain e-book features, such as annotation and highlighting tools, but they were not sure that they would use these tools.

Headings:

Electronic books/Evaluation Electronic books User studies/Electronic books

A USABILITY STUDY OF E-BOOK PLATFORMS

by Laura C. O'Neill

A Master's paper submitted to the faculty of the School of Information and Library Science of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Library Science.

Chapel Hill, North Carolina

April 2009

Approved by

Deborah Barreau

Table of Contents

List of Figures	2
Acknowledgements	
Introduction	
Literature Review	6
Methodology	
Results	
Discussion	55
Conclusion	60
Works Cited	
Appendix A	65
Appendix B	66
Appendix C	74

List of Figures

Figure 1: A page from a book displayed in ebrary's QuickView	26
Figure 2: A page from an e-book displayed in ebrary Reader	26
Figure 3: A book from MyiLibrary, displayed in PDF format	
Figure 4: A book from MyiLibrary, displayed in HTML format	
Figure 5: A list of search results in EBL	32
Figure 6: A "Full Record" page in EBL	32
Figure 7: Moving from page to the next in EBL	
Figure 8: Annotating in ebrary	36
Figure 9: Highlighting in ebrary	36
Figure 10: MyiLibrary's Notes tab	
Figure 11: The notes window in MyiLibrary	
Figure 12: EBL's Notes tab	40
Figure 13: Annotating in EBL	40
Figure 14: Ebrary's InfoTools menu	42
Figure 15: An online resource, linked to from ebrary's InfoTools	43
Figure 16: MyiLibrary's page of Available Resources	44
Figure 17: Ebrary's Print Window	46
Figure 18: Ebrary's message about printing restrictions	46
Figure 19: MyiLibrary's Adobe Toolbar printer option	48
Figure 20: Printing multiple pages from MyiLibrary	49
Figure 21: EBL's page of printing options	51

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Lisa Norberg and Leah Dunn for their assistance with this research study. Lisa answered my many questions and provided valuable advice. Leah arranged trials from MyiLibrary and Ebook Library. Without their help, this study would not have been possible.

I am also grateful to Professor Deborah Barreau for her excellent advising and support with this research and throughout my time at UNC's School of Information and Library Science.

Introduction

As academic libraries have expanded their offerings of electronic resources in recent years, students have increasingly turned toward these resources. While electronic books have not reached the same level of popularity as other online resources such as e-journals (Anuradha & Usha, 2006; Levine-Clark, 2006; Safley, 2006), there is evidence that students are using e-books to meet their academic needs and that they even prefer e-books over their print equivalents in some situations (Christianson & Aucoin, 2005; Croft & Bedi, 2005; Littman & Connaway, 2004; Safley, 2006). As academic libraries seek to meet the ever-evolving needs of their users, e-books offer conveniences that today's students have grown to expect from their previous experiences finding information online—conveniences such as full-text searching and accessibility from any place at anytime.

While Amazon.com's Kindle reading device has received a great deal of attention, the term e-book encompasses more than just books that are read from a personal device. Academic libraries currently purchase e-books through individual publishers and aggregators of e-books. Offering books from many different publishers under a single contract, each aggregator has a different platform, providing books through its own interface. Students can access their library's e-books online and, as of 2009, they typically read the books from a computer screen. As academic libraries increase their e-book collections, librarians must consider a variety of issues including prices, licensing options, and the quality of content. Additionally, they must consider which e-book platforms will be easiest to use. Many platforms now offer additional functionality. These added value features take advantage of the electronic environment, allowing readers to annotate text and connect to outside resources. With the addition of such features, librarians must also assess which platforms offer the most valuable functionality for student research and work.

While e-books offer a great deal of potential for academic libraries, surveys of academic library users have found that usability issues can discourage readers from reading e-books (Anuradha & Usha, 2006; Chu, 2003; Croft & Bedi, 2005) or from using certain e-book functions (McFall, 2005). This study will examine the usability of the ebook platforms of three of the largest academic aggregators: ebrary, MyiLibrary, and Ebook Library (EBL). Each of these platforms offers titles covering the full range of academic disciplines. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (UNC-CH) currently subscribes to ebrary and the University Library set up trials with both MyiLibrary and EBL for the duration of this study.

The goal of this research is to identify usability issues that students encounter using these platforms, as well what types of added value features students find to be most valuable. While this research is limited to three platforms, the study aims to serve as more than a review of these particular products. Beyond learning about these specific platforms, the purpose of this study is to gain greater insight into the usability issues that students encounter while reading e-books and to develop a deeper understanding of how e-books can meet the academic needs of students.

Literature Review

In examining the usability of e-books and their future in academic libraries, it is worthwhile to first consider if students will want to use this type of resource. A number of studies have noted that many people prefer reading from the printed page, with readers explaining that they find it difficult to read from the computer screen (see, for example, Abdullah & Gibb, 2008; Chu, 2003; Langston, 2003; Levine-Clark, 2006). Despite this preference for reading from the printed page, several studies indicate that the convenience and accessibility of e-books may outweigh students' dislike for reading from a computer screen. The United Kingdom National E-Books Observatory study offers perhaps the most convincing statistics on e-book use at the university level. With over 20,000 responses from teachers and students to their online survey, the study found that over 60 percent of students were using e-books for their academic work. Nearly half of all students had used one or two e-books in the previous month and another 39 percent had used three or more e-books in that time period (Nicholas et al., 2008). In a study at Royal Roads University in British Columbia, when students were referred to both the electronic and print versions of the books for their classes, students opted for the electronic version over the print version at a rate of three to one (Croft & Bedi, 2005).

By comparing the use of e-books and print books, a number of studies further demonstrate the growing use of e-books at universities. However, the researchers note that there are limitations to comparing the usage statistics of e-books to print books. The figures for print books do not include in-house use; any books that a person reads in the library would be excluded. While a print book usage would be recorded only when a book is checked out, an electronic book usage occurs each time a person accesses the book. These statistics do not indicate if a single individual used the same e-book ten times or if ten different users individually accessed the book. While such limitations make it difficult to draw conclusions about how resources are used, these studies provide strong evidence that students are turning to e-books for their academic work. Librarians at the University of Texas found that while print circulation declined in 2005, e-book usage increased substantially (Safley, 2006). Bailey (2006) had similar results in a study comparing electronic and print book usage at Auburn University between 2000 and 2004. Bailey found that print usage declined by almost a third while the use of electronic books increased between three and five fold. Both Bailey and Safley note that since each school's e-book collection was still relatively new during these years, usage would not be likely to continue to rise so dramatically in the future years. However, these numbers clearly demonstrate that students have accepted e-books and that they are turning to these resources for their academic work.

Studies at other universities confirm this growing acceptance and use of e-books. At Duke University, researchers studied the circulation of 7,880 print and e-book equivalents in 2001 and 2002. Despite the fact that e-books were relatively new, e-books received 11% more use than their print equivalents. (Littman & Connaway, 2004). At Louisiana State University, Christianson and Aucoin looked at usage statistics for 2,852 titles that were available in both print and electronic format. They compared usage of print and e-book equivalents for a twelve month period beginning in January 2002. Their results are less decisive; while 29.27 percent of print books were used over the course of the year, only 19.6 percent of the e-books were. However, of the e-books that were used, these electronic versions were accessed more often than their print equivalents circulated from the library.

In addition to these studies looking at general usage statistics, Grudzien and Casey (2008) investigated the use of e-books by distance education students at Central Michigan University. Since they are often located at some distance from the school's library, this segment of the student population may derive great benefit from the ability to access books online. Central Michigan University's distance education students were surveyed in 2007 and over 40 percent of respondents said that greater access to e-books would be the one change that would most improve their educational experience. From 2004 to 2007, the university saw increasing e-book use among both on-campus students and distance education students, but the percentage of e-book use among distance education students was much higher. Additionally, as the University began to provide access to more e-books, distance education students also began to borrow fewer print materials. E-books clearly meet a need for this student population.

While usage statistics indicate that students are turning toward electronic books for their academic needs, these studies fail to capture the human dimension involved in the reading process. The UK National E-Books Observatory study looks more deeply into this dimension of e-book use, asking survey respondents about their e-book reading behavior. Nicholas et al. (2008) found that individuals read short sections from e-books, rather than the complete text. When asked to think back to the last time they had read an e-book, less than six percent of students had read the entire text. Almost a quarter had read one or more full chapters, but over half had "dipped in and out of several chapters" (p. 323). Another question asked respondents how long they typically read an e-book from the computer screen in one session. Almost 60 percent estimated that they read for less than twenty minutes in a session (Nicholas et al., 2008). Levine-Clark had similar findings in a survey of students, faculty and staff at the University of Denver. A little over half of respondents (a total of 1,061 individuals) had used e-books. When asked how they typically used e-books, only 7.1 percent read the entire book. Over half (56.5 percent) typically read a section within a book and 36.4 percent spent even less time using e-books, reading a single entry or just a few pages (Levine-Clark, 2006). Rather than deplore this lack of in-depth reading, Nicholas et al. (2008) point out that few people probably read a book from cover to cover in the past either. They suggest that e-books can potentially better serve people's research needs by allowing individuals to search for the precise information that they need.

The UK National E-Books Observatory study also included two open-ended questions in its survey, providing respondents with the opportunity to freely express their thoughts concerning e-books (Jamali, Nichols, & Rowlands, 2009). The first question asked respondents to explain what they viewed as the greatest advantages of e- books over print books. Although the free-response set-up led to thousands of unique answers, several themes emerged from the responses. The most commonly mentioned advantage was accessibility, with users explaining that they enjoy the convenience of being able to access e-books from anywhere at any time. The second most mentioned advantage involved searchability. Despite these advantages, respondents cited a range of problems as well, including difficulties with screen-reading and with printing. Jamali et al. point out that the most often cited advantages of e-books (accessibility and searchability) suggest that users may be turning to e-books for practical reasons. For example, they may use an e-book to save the time of going to the library. The usage statistics cited earlier may be a reflection of how e-books are filling these practical needs, rather than a reflection of how satisfying and easy e-books are to use.

Additional research has focused on the added value features of e-books by examining if students find these features useful and easy to use. In a survey that focused on use of electronic textbooks, McFall (2005) found that college students had mixed reactions to the e-textbook with such features. The students in several computer science courses each used an electronic textbook on a tablet PC. McFall had hypothesized that a textbook with functions for highlighting and note-taking would promote active reading and enhance student learning. Although McFall does not provide specific data on his results, he reports on general trends. Students rated the highlighting tool as somewhat useful, but they had a difficult time using certain e-textbook features. Perhaps as a result of such difficulties, students did not use many of the e-textbook's features. McFall suggests that students' deeply ingrained study habits may explain why they did not use these features. Regarding student use of e-book annotation tools, Hernon et al. (2007) had similar findings in their research. Of the fifteen students in their study, only two annotated e-book content. Other participants preferred to handwrite notes on pages that they had printed out from an e-book; some students indicated that they might use these tools, but they would have to grow accustomed to them first. While e-book vendors often promote their added value tools, it is not clear that students will want to use tools such as

highlighting and annotation. They may want to continue with the study and work habits they have developed over the course of their academic careers.

McFall found that students had a more positive reaction to the functionality of an e-textbook that he tested several years later (McFall, Dershem, & Davis, 2006). According to the researchers, the technology involved in the e-textbook had improved significantly over the previous study. A great deal of their research involved looking at how the textbook improved student learning, but they also focused on student perceptions of this book. As they point out, "Student reactions to the e-textbook are an important part of its evaluation; a tool students don't want to use is useless even if it is one of the most effecting learning instruments available" (p. 340). Twelve of the fourteen students rated the textbook as "useful" or "very useful." When asked if the electronic nature of the textbook had helped them learn less or more than other textbooks, nine students said it helped them learn "a little more." However, two students responded that they had learned "much less" using this textbook. Usability stands out as an issue here, as these two students both commented on the amount of time required to perform tasks with the etextbook. When students were asked which features were the most useful, usability issues come up once again. Students named the ability to search, annotate, and bookmark, but some students did not use the annotation tool because it was difficult to use. The researchers found that highlighting and searching were the features that students used most often. However, there was a great range in how much individual students used these features. With highlighting, for example, one student had highlighted 367 times while two students had not highlighted at all. This wide variation may be a reflection of

students' individual reading styles; some students may not have thought that this tool was useful. Another possibility is that they may have encountered difficulty using this tool.

As these studies suggest, students may not always find e-books' added value features useful or user-friendly. Academic librarians should consider such issues when assessing e-book platforms. Additionally, they may need to consider if users must log into a platform in order to use these features. On most e-book platforms, users must set up their own accounts in order to perform tasks such as highlighting and annotating. From their research at Royal Roads University in British Columbia, Croft and Bedi (2004) found that only 35 percent of e-book users had set up accounts. Some mentioned difficulties trying to set up accounts. On a similar note, Morris and Balatsoukas (2006) also found that a log in requirement caused problems for students. In their usability study at Loughborough University in the United Kingdom, sixteen study participants performed the same tasks in two different e-book platforms. One platform required that users log in before performing certain tasks. Participants made significantly more errors when completing a task that involved logging into this platform as they typed incorrect passwords or tried to sign in without first creating an account. While students may be interested in these e-book tools, they may become frustrated when faced with a computer screen asking them to sign in or to set up an account.

In considering added value features, some disagreement exists over how much ebooks should resemble the print book. In 1998, usability expert Jakob Nielsen argued that e-books should depart from the model of the print book and its linear lay-out. "Electronic text should be based on interaction, hypertext linking, navigation, search, and connections to online services and continuous updates. These new-media capabilities

allow for much more powerful user experiences than a linear flow of text" (Nielsen, 1998). In their research on the design of electronic textbooks, Wilson, Landoni, and Gibb (2002) found that readers enjoyed interactive and multimedia features. However, Wilson et al. also found that features of the print book increased usability for readers. These features, such as a table of contents and index, gave readers a sense of the e-book's structure. As for added value features, such as the ability to search, bookmark and annotate, participants appreciated these tools. However, they commented that these features were difficult to use and took a considerable amount of time (Wilson et al., 2002). Wilson, Shortreed, and Landoni (2004) had similar results in a study focusing specifically on e-encyclopedias. They tested the usability of three different eencyclopedias which varied in their level of added value content and interactive features. Participants liked these additions. Additionally, the added value content and interactivity helped individuals remember the information they had read. However, participants encountered more difficulties trying to find information from encyclopedias that had more of these features. These two studies suggest that users like the idea of added value features which allow functionality beyond the possibilities of the print book. However, this functionality can contribute to usability problems.

Like the two studies cited above (Wilson et al., 2002; Wilson, et al., 2004), this research will rely on usability testing to evaluate e-book platforms. The usability literature confirms the importance of usability in a range of information technology products and computer programs. One study has found that even experienced computer users waste approximately forty-five percent of their time on computers because of frustrating experiences with confusing menus and functions (Ceaparu, Lazar, Bessiere, Robinson, Shneiderman, 2004). When using a new product or system, such frustrating experiences have the potential to leave an individual with a negative opinion. As a result, he or she may decide not to use the product or system again in the future. In a study of e-learning services, Chiu, Hsu, Sun, Lin, and Sun (2005) found that usability played a crucial role in students' decision to continue using an e-learning service. Considering this study, one recognizes the importance of usability in the success of e-books as well. If an e-book is not easy and satisfying to use, a student may not choose to read from one in the future.

In addition to demonstrating the value of usability testing, the relevant literature provides guidance for this research. The literature confirms the importance of considering several different aspects of usability. Frokjaer, Hertzum, and Hornbaek (2000) argue that effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction should all be considered independent components of usability. They found that there was only a weak correlation between efficiency, effectiveness, and satisfaction. By examining only one or two of these aspects of usability, researchers are in danger of overlooking other important usability issues. In the research of Frokjaer et al., participants solved information retrieval tasks using different retrieval modes. Efficiency, effectiveness, and satisfaction were then considered for each retrieval mode in order to determine its overall usability. To determine efficiency, the researchers measured the time required to complete each task using the different modes. Effectiveness was measured by the quality of each solution that participants produced for each task. Defining satisfaction as "the users' comfort with and positive attitudes towards the use of the system" (p.345), the

researchers measured satisfaction by user's preference for one retrieval mode over another.

The importance of assessing these usability components is reflected in literature regarding the usability of e-books and digital library resources as well. Morris and Balatsoukas (2006) considered efficiency, effectiveness, and satisfaction in their usability testing comparing two different e-book platforms. In a study of the usability of a virtual map, Garoufallou, Siatri, and Balatsoukas (2008) asked participants to perform tasks that reflected the types of procedures for which people would typically use the map. By focusing on study participants' efficiency, effectiveness, and satisfaction, the researchers recommended ways that the map could be made more usable. Toms, Dufour, and Hesemeier (2004) emphasize that, when evaluating digital libraries, it is especially important to consider satisfaction. Users want an efficient and effective way to find information, but they also want to have an enjoyable experience when interacting with a digital library.

While many researchers measure efficiency, effectiveness and satisfaction, other researchers use different terminology to define and explore usability. In *Handbook of Usability Testing* (1994), Rubin discusses usefulness, effectiveness, learnability, and likability as four factors of usability (p. 18-19). In a study of students' decisions to continue using e-learning systems, Chiu et al. (2005) consider usability separately from the user's perceived quality of an e-learning service and from the user's perceived value of the service. These researchers found that, together with usability, the user's perception of quality and value each contribute to the user's decision to continue using a service. While the terminology may differ from one researcher to another, the fundamental

considerations stay the same. In examining the usability of a product, the focus remains on the user's experience and how easy and satisfying the user finds the product.

In considering a product's usability, Dillon (2001) cautions that researchers must look beyond simply quantifying these usability components. While researchers often use error rate as an indicator of effectiveness, it is difficult to quantify the effectiveness of many tasks that are supported by technology. For example, how does one measure the effectiveness of reading when using a particular e-book platform? One cannot assess the reading process through an easily quantified error rate. The measurement of efficiency can be equally problematic. Efficiency is often measured by the time taken to complete a task or by the number of steps taken to finish a task. Dillon points out that users may not always be concerned with these measures of time and steps; the user experience is more complex. The experience actually may be enhanced by a product that takes longer to use. The addition of interactive elements to a product may require more of the user's time, but these features may also make the process more interesting or appealing. Even in measuring satisfaction, Dillon cautions that researchers should be careful to look beyond simple user ratings of like and dislike.

The usability literature provides both context and guidance for this research study. A number of studies have shown that students have accepted e-books and now use them for their academic work, demonstrating the importance of evaluating these resources in academic libraries. However, the literature also indicates a need for improvement in ebook platforms. This research aims to find what features make e-books easier and more satisfying for students to use.

Methodology

Participants

Five undergraduate and five graduate students from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill participated in this study. The study was advertised on fliers at UNC-CH's Davis Library and the Undergraduate Library. Interested students emailed the researcher to arrange a time for an appointment to participate in the study. When this recruitment method did not result in enough graduate student participants, the researcher successfully recruited three additional graduate students via email.

With a pool of ten participants, the sample size is small. However, small sample sizes are well-established in the usability literature. While Nielsen confirms that larger sample sizes have greater statistical significance, he writes that with just five participants, a usability test can uncover 80 percent of a product's usability problems. Additionally, these uncovered problems will be the most major (Nielsen, 2000). A sample of this size will uncover trends and patterns in the types of usability issues that students face using e-books.

E-book Platforms

For the testing sessions, each platform was open in a different tab in a browser window. While the three platforms each provide e-books covering a range of academic disciplines, they each display content through different methods.

- Ebrary has two different viewing options: QuickView and ebrary Reader (Figure 1 and 2). With QuickView, a user can immediately view an e-book in his browser window. Ebrary Reader offers greater functionality, but the software needs to be installed on the user's computer. For the purposes of this study, ebrary Reader was installed on the computer used for the testing sessions. The participants in this study used QuickView to read several pages in their chosen books before being asked to open their books in ebrary Reader.
- MyiLibrary displays books in either PDF or HTML format, depending on the file provided by the book's publisher (Figures 3 and 4).
- For reading online, EBL books can be viewed as either a PDF or an image. In this study, participants viewed pages as images because this is the default option (Figure 5). With EBL, a user also has the option to download an e-book to his computer. EBL advises its users to read e-books online if they are working on a computer that they do not have permanent access to, such as a library computer. For this reason, study participants were asked to read EBL books online rather than downloading them as students would be able read the online format from any machine, not just their personal computers.

Study Procedure

At the beginning of each testing session, the researcher asked each participant to read and sign a consent form. After deciding if they wanted to continue with the study, participants answered several demographic questions as well several questions about their experience using e-books (Appendix A). The researcher explained to the participants that they would be asked to perform a series of tasks with each of the three e-book platforms (Appendix B). Using the literature on e-book usage as a guide, these tasks had been selected because they are typical of the actions that individuals make while using e-books. Additionally, the literature indicates the users often encounter difficulty accomplishing these actions. The tasks were as follows:

- 1. Search each e-book collection for a term. From the list of search results, choose an e-book and read several pages.
- 2. Use the e-book platform to take a note.
- 3. Use the platform's options for accessing online resources.
- 4. Print several pages from the e-book.

To reduce the impact of a learning effect as participants completed the tasks in each platform, the researcher varied the order in which participants used the platforms. Three participants began with ebrary and then moved on to MyiLibrary and then EBL, while three other participants started with EBL and then worked with MyiLibrary and then ebrary. Four participants went from MyiLibrary to EBL to ebrary.

As participants completed the tasks, the researcher sat next to them to observe and to guide the usability test. Morae usability software was used to record participants' onscreen actions and verbal responses during each of the usability testing sessions. As the participants moved through the tasks, the principal investigator asked them to explain what they liked and did not like about each platform and to compare the usability of the three platforms. Since students often read selectively from e-books, looking for specific information (Abdullah & Gibb, 2008; Levine-Clark, 2005), the first task asked each participant to choose a term from a list of three suggested search terms. These suggested terms were based on different general areas of academic study, with one term for the social science students, another for science students, and another for humanities students. This task takes advantage of the full-text searching functionality that is considered one of the biggest advantages of e-books. After retrieving a list of search results, participants were asked to choose a book and to read several pages. These same steps were then repeated in each of the platforms.

In both Task 2 and Task 3, participants were asked to use some of the platforms' added value features. While research indicates that users are impressed with such functionality, studies also indicate that users have trouble using these features. In Task 2, participants were asked to use each platform's tools for annotation. Additionally, they were asked to use ebrary's highlighting tool. MyiLibrary and EBL do not have a highlighting tool with which ebrary could be compared, but ebrary's highlighting tool was included in order to examine whether students had a preference for taking notes or for highlighting in the electronic environment.

Task 3 asked participants to use ebrary's and MyiLibrary's options for accessing online resources. (EBL does not have a tool for linking to outside resources.) Ebrary advertises its InfoTools as one of its key features. By selecting a menu item or selecting a word from the page of book, readers can use InfoTools to link to additional resources, such as an online dictionary, encyclopedia, or database. In MyiLibrary, readers can link to a page of "Available Resources," which lists a wide range of freely available online resources. Participants were asked if they would access online resources using these ebook features or if they would find it easier to use an online search engine if they needed additional information while reading an e-book. Considering Nielsen's argument (1998) that e-books should depart from the linear print book structure in order to provide interactivity and to connect to outside resources, this task served to examine whether students saw value in such connectivity that allowed them to link to outside resources when they wanted further information on a topic.

The last task asked participants to print a page range from an e-book. Several studies have noted that printing problems are a common complaint about e-books (Jamali et al., 2009; Levine-Clark, 2006). Additionally, the library staff at the UNC-CH has observed that students frequently want to print sections from e-books, but they often have trouble doing so. Publishers' printing restrictions are likely the source of students' confusion, but this task served to determine if students found it easier to print in one platform than the others.

After completing all four tasks, the participants filled out a follow-up questionnaire (Appendix C). Each testing session was completed in fewer than forty-five minutes and participants received eight dollars compensation for taking part. The participants' verbal responses were transcribed and analyzed using nVivo software. After an initial reading of responses, the researcher created codes to identify key concepts. The data was then coded to identify patterns and trends in the participants' responses.

A qualitative approach was selected for this study in order to gain a full sense of the user experience. Other research studies measure a system or a product's usability through quantitative measures, such as the time taken to complete a task or the number of errors committed while completing a task. Building on the ideas of Dillon (2001), this research endeavors to look beyond these quantifiable measures. Through individual testing sessions with each participant, the researcher gains an understanding of the rationale behind participants' actions and responses, as well as an understanding of which features did (or did not) enhance the participants' experiences.

A Note About How E-book Platforms Were Viewed in this Study

The computer used in this testing was a Lenovo Thinkpad T500. With a 15.4 inch widescreen display and 1680x1050 resolution, e-books may appear slightly differently on this computer than they would on computer screens with different dimensions.

Results

Questionnaire on Demographics and E-book Experience

Half of the study participants were graduate students, while the other half were undergraduate students. Of the undergraduates, there were three juniors, one sophomore and one first-year student. The participants ranged in age from 18 to 27 years old. A variety of academic disciplines was represented and several students listed more than one area of study. The participants' majors or courses of study are listed below.

- Anthropology
- Economics
- Environmental Studies
- Environmental Science
- Germanic Language and Literature
- History
- Library Science
- Linguistics
- Management and Society
- Mathematics
- Public Health
- Russian Language and Culture

Eight of the students had used e-books before. Five of these students had experience using an e-textbook. When asked how they had found e-books, three said they had found e-books using the UNC-CH library catalog. Three others had found ebooks by searching Google and one student had found e-books by searching both the library catalog and Google. One participant with e-book experience had never actually searched for an e-book herself; she had used an e-textbook assigned for a class.

Usability Test

Task 1: Finding and reading e-books

Ebrary

Participants did not encounter difficulty finding e-books in ebrary, but three participants responded negatively to the QuickView lay-out. The image of the book's page is displayed on the left hand side of the computer screen (Figure 1). "That looks very weird," one participant commented. Two others asked if they could change the display so that the book's pages weren't limited to less than half of the screen. One asked, "Is there any way to move it over so that the page is not scrunched up on the left?" One of these participants went so far as to describe QuickView as "awful."

When they were shown how to open the books in ebrary Reader (ebrary's other viewing option), participants liked this display more than the QuickView display (Figure 2). For the individual who described QuickView as awful, ebrary Reader was "much, much better." Once they had opened a particular title, two participants commented that they liked using ebrary's hyperlinked Table of Contents to immediately move to a chosen chapter within the book. While participants did not encounter any usability issues reading from ebrary, three participants said that they wished they were able to scroll from one page to the next. Instead, they had to use either the arrows on ebrary's toolbar or the arrow keys on their keyboard. One participant explained that if she wanted to quickly

move back and forth between pages, it would become "annoying" to have to select a menu option from the tool bar.

UNC		Finder Nood Help7		
Info Search QuickView Bookshelf	Englin	Engenn 📕 (Hex Sections) Sec. (c)) teks		
poranesie hurston Search ebrary 62/200	el Madesta			
• ← → +Q Q+ -B+.	Ner cogning, printing with the first	(904)		
<text><text><text><text><text><text><text></text></text></text></text></text></text></text>	Term Constraint First rate function See Source First rate functin <td></td>			

Figure 1: A page from a book displayed in ebrary's QuickView. Several participants did not like the page lay-out, with the e-book's current page limited to less than half of the left hand side of the screen. To get to ebrary Reader, the user selects the blue rectangular box in the upper right part of the screen.



Figure 2: A page from an e-book displayed in ebrary Reader. Using ebrary Reader (ebrary's other viewing option), participants liked that they could select a title from the Table of Contents and immediately access that chapter. However, they felt that it was inconvenient to move from one page to the next using the arrows on the toolbar or arrows on the keyboard.

MyiLibrary

Participants did not encounter usability issues searching for and finding books in MyiLibrary. As explained earlier, MyiLibrary books are displayed in either PDF or HTML format, depending on the file provided by the book's publisher. Nine of the participants opened books displayed as PDF documents; the other student happened to choose a book displayed in HTML format. From the start, those students reading PDF's were confused by the fact that MyiLibrary had two toolbars (Figure 3). The main toolbar was for the e-book platform itself; below that was a PDF toolbar, resembling the type of toolbar students are accustomed to seeing in Adobe PDF documents. Since they were familiar with this Adobe PDF toolbar, participants tried to move from one page to another by using this toolbar's arrows. However, they found that those arrows were inactive. Upon closer examination, they found that this toolbar referred only to the current page of the book. For the page number, the toolbar read "1/1" as if the book was only one page. Instead of using the PDF toolbar to turn the page, participants found that they had to go to the MyiLibrary toolbar and select "Next." Participants commented that they are accustomed to the PDF toolbar and they expected it to allow them to perform the same functions that one would expect when reading a PDF. Participants did not like this set-up. After seeing how these toolbars worked, one individual responded, "Oh, that's weird.... I don't like that much."

Several participants felt that MyiLibrary should improve their toolbars to be more user-friendly. One participant suggested that MyiLibrary "could better organize this window so that they didn't have two separate toolbars." Once they learned that they needed to use the "Next" option in the MyiLibary toolbar to turn pages, two participants commented that the toolbar's "Next" option was too small. They would have found it more easily if this option had been larger. The same two individuals also felt that an arrow symbol would be more intuitive than looking for the word "Next" in the MyiLibrary toolbar. MyiLibrary's navigability could be further improved by allowing readers to scroll; as in ebrary, several participants commented on the fact they could not scroll from one page to the next.

Even without the PDF toolbar causing confusion, the participant who read from a book in HTML format made similar comments about navigability within MyiLibrary (Figure 4). In the HTML format, there is an arrow at the end of each page from the ebook. In order to turn pages, readers can use this arrow or the "Next" option on the MyiLibrary toolbar. The participant reading in HTML format commented that it would be more convenient to be able to scroll, rather than having to select the arrow icon or "Next" option.

Three participants also responded negatively to the size of the pages in MyiLibrary. When they opened an e-book in the PDF format, the pages were displayed at a magnification varying between 153 and 207 percent. Finding this size awkward to read, three participants tried reducing the magnification while they read. However, they found that when they turned to the next page, the magnification had returned back to the higher percentage again. After reading through several pages, one participant commented, "T'm really tired of having to size down every time." Later on, the same student expressed her annoyance with this magnification issue, "Every time I go to the next page, it jumps back up to 207 percent. It's driving me nuts."¹

¹ After seeing how negatively participants responded to MyiLibrary's toolbars and magnification,, the researcher experimented with the account settings. The "my settings page" allows users to set PDF magnification at a desired percent and to have the PDF toolbar hidden. However, when the researcher selected to have the toolbar hidden to have the magnification set at 100 percent, there was no change in how MyiLibrary displayed e-books on the screen. The PDF toolbar still appeared and the magnification remained at much higher percentage. This problem may need to be addressed at the installation level.



Figure 3: A book from MyiLibrary, displayed in PDF format. *MyiLibrary's two toolbars caused confusion for participants. Additionally, participants found the magnification too large.*



Figure 4: A book from MyiLibrary, displayed in HTML format. The participants who read a book in this format commented that it would be more convenient to scroll, rather than using the arrow at the end of the page or the "Next" toolbar option.

EBL

When using EBL, participants had trouble getting to the full-text of an e-book from their search results. Nine participants began by selecting the hyperlinked book title from their search results (Figure 5). Rather than bringing them into the text of the book, this brought them to a page for the book's "Full Record" (Figure 6). While this page contains potentially useful information, these nine participants struggled to access the full text of the book. The informational page contained a table of contents; seven participants tried clicking on items within the table of contents, expecting these items to be hyperlinked to the text. In order to access the full-text, they had to select "EBL ReadOnline" button from the menu on the left, but they did not see this option. After the researcher pointed out this button, one participant said that this button should be bigger. Another said that he had not realized the purpose of the button, explaining that it "almost looks like the name of it...EBL ReadOnline."

After this initial problem getting to the full-text of books, participants were generally pleased with EBL. They especially appreciated the ability to scroll through pages, using the mouse or the scroll bar (Figure 7). Seven participants commented that they found it more convenient to scroll from one page to the next, rather than having to continuously go to the toolbar to select an arrow icon or the word "next." One participant explained his preference for scrolling, "if you were looking to skim through a text, the [next] button could get tiring."

Ebook Library		HOME III BOOKSTORE III HELP III SUPPORT / FEEDBACK III GET ADOBE READER
		DOOKS LOGOUT
Search Results Immediate access to the ebook. Mediated access upon request.		Search's [pibalisation Title] (iii) Full Text Search Category Publisher Ebil Category Advanced Search
🔍 Your search criteria:		
 Title contains <u>globalization</u> 		
	37 1 <u>2</u> <u>3</u> <u>4</u> ≥ Jump to page: Go	Display 10 🗾 results
Sort Results by: Title + Author Publisher	I Publication Date PRINT13 elSBN13 LCSH LCC Edition Volume Or	vned by Library I Bank Onder, I Language I Ebl Category
21st Century Dissent : Anarchism, Anti-Glob	skzation and Environmentalism 🧇	
Author: Publisher: Date Published: ISBN/AISBN Subject:	Curran, G. Palgaree Macsillan 31 October 2006 970140948016 (97002300000847 Elsoweters.	Semant 7 213 Contra y Deset contends that avanchies has considerably if Alarced the nodern political landscape. Can an explese the contemporary face of anarchies are expressed via environmental proteins and the arthogoladization non-ment.
tBL Category:	Englished Solence	Read Online Yew the Full Details
The Accelerat American's Temagration and Citizenships in the Age of Calculatation 🚱		
Author: Publisher: Date Published: 350%/cfSB% Subject:	Sen, Dahu Mandoz, Holdal Amerinet Koldelaris Barreto (1998) 976157574922 (9701576/58922 Mandodz, Holdal	Summary The Acodersia American vividly all strates the thelenges and contradictions of U. 5: immigration policy, and argues that, suit as there is a free Row of capital in the world economy, there should be a free Row of labor. Autors this Seria Americansis that one to the this of the "acoders" (income)
Language: EBL Category:	English Political Science	Pasid Online View the Full Details
Advanting Concents: Development in the first of Galakitation 🚱		
Author: Publisher: Date Publisher: ISN/cESBN Subject: Languoge:	Sharma, Shalendia D. Taylot & Function 2009 (2019) (2019) (2019) 2009:15377-101 (2019) Economic development. Ecologic development.	Summary Dathrops assumptions about the barrelist of specific development practices, this book provides readers with over-over of how competing frameworks have developed and the ways that specific development practices inflect specific understandings of the near-distance, we will as offering a comprehension (core)
EBC Category: Edition:	1	Read Online 1 View the Full Details

Figure 5: A list of search results in EBL. *Nine participants selected the hyperlinked book title from their search results and found that this brought them to the book's "Full Record" page, rather than to the text of the book.*

En Ebook Library	and a second design of the second	HOME III BOOKSTOKE II HELP III SURPORT / FEEDRINGLIII GET ACOBE REAS	
Ubrary + UIL Home + Search Results + Zist Century Dissent : Anarchism, Arti-Gobalcation and Environmentalism	Full Record	Search Episalauton Tabe Sainch Category Rubinker Bai Category Advanced Sainch	
21st Century Disent : Anarchism, Anti-Gabalaction and Environmentalism Pakhteen: Pidyaw Micellie 180% 14054807	Teles 214 Centery Source 1: Averdues, Are Global soton and Environmentales. Publishes Source Nacalian Autor Cares, 6. LCS XII at 1 Series Title I demotional Publical Environ.	Fu&. Date: 21 Contate: 2005 eBook RSN 13 V70222000017 Privat RSN 13 V70222000017 Privat RSN 140790012 Privat RSN 140790012 Privat RSN 140790012 Privat RSN 140790012 Privat RSN 14079012 Privat RSN 14079012 Priva	
Subject: Diserters.	20 C		
Languages English	😔 Summary		
# of pages: 264	21st Century Dissent contends that anarchism has considerably influenced the modern political	landscape. Curran explores the contemporary face of anarchism as expressed via environmental protests and the anti-globalization movement.	
 Loan Options 	Table of Contents	CONSISTENT REPORT OF DEPENDENT REPORT REPORT REPORT REPORT REPORT AND A REPORT AND A REPORT OF DEPENDENT AND A	
This ebook can be read online or downloaded to a PC/laptep.	Gene		
	Cortents		
EBL) READ ONLINE	Preface		
You should always soluti Read Online	Introduction		
Brary.	Background		
- Of Download ebook	A post-ideological avarchism for the 21st century		
How long would you like to download this ebook for?	The chapters		
@ 3 days	Part 1: Theorizing Contemporary Anarchism		
C 7 days	1 Anarchism Old and New		
Figure 0.0x0	2 Movements of Anti-Globalization		
	3 Technologies of Dissent		
	4 \$ 4 Ecology and Anarchy		
	Part II: Practising Contemporary Anarchism		
/ This book is available for <u>purchase here</u> .	5 The Politics of Zapatismo		
Note: will need to have the latest version	6 Greening Anarchy: Social Ecology		
of Aduba [®] Raider [®] and the DBL plug-in	7 Reclaim the Streets		
B you are a Mac ober you need to have at least version 7.0 of Adobe Reader 6 and Adobe Ceptal Editions on to download the software.	8 Earth First		
	Conclusion: Towards 21st Century Dissent		
	A radical democracy for the 21st century		

Figure 6: A "Full Record" page in EBL. On the "Full Record" page, participants struggled to get into the text of the book. Seven participants tried clicking on items in the Table of Contents, expecting the chapter titles to be hyperlinked to the text of those chapters. Several participants commented that the "EBL ReadOnline" icon (located on the left hand side of the screen) should be more prominent.



Figure 7: Moving from page to the next in EBL. *Participants commented that they liked the convenience of scrolling in EBL.*

<u>Ebrary</u>

Participants did not have difficulty annotating or highlighting in ebrary. Two participants felt that it was easier to annotate with ebrary than with the other platforms because they could immediately begin typing notes in the bottom part of the "Notes" tab (Figure 8). A running tally for all of a book's notes appears in the top part of the tab. By contrast, MyiLibary and EBL each involve an extra step in the note-taking process. In these platforms, readers must select a menu option before a window appears where they can then type notes. Like the tool for annotation, ebrary's highlighting tool elicited positive responses from participants, who described it in terms such as "awesome," "fun," "intuitive," "nifty," and "helpful" (Figure 9).

When participants were asked if they thought they would use the annotation or highlighting tool in their schoolwork, their comments reflected the varying studying habits of students. Four participants noted that they would be more likely to highlight than annotate an e-book. One explained that highlighting was less disruptive to the reading process. A graduate student explained that she would prefer to take notes by hand, but she felt that the highlighting would be valuable if she needed to return to a text in several years when she begins her thesis. For two other students, a highlighting tool did not seem to fit well with their work habits. One explained that he could see how a highlighting tool would be valuable for other students, but he would be unlikely to use it himself as he rarely highlights any type of book. "I think it could be useful, but not for me." Another participant explained that she learns better from note-taking than from
highlighting. This particular participant described the highlighting as "great," but she went on to explain, "Highlighting is just sort of mindless for me; it doesn't really stay in my brain. So I probably wouldn't use it, but that is just because of my way of learning; that's all." No matter how user-friendly a feature is, some students may decide not to use it.

Two participants also expressed a desire for a greater connection between ebrary's annotation and highlighting tools. After trying the highlighting function, one participant commented, "That's nice. I just wish that I could make some sort of comment... I never remember why I highlight something... [I'd want] a note to go with it." The highlights and notes are listed in separate tabs on the left hand side of the ebrary screen. These participants felt that if they could see a particular note along with the highlighted text, they would have a better reminder of the significance of this portion of text.



Figure 8: Annotating in ebrary. In the notes tab is on the left side of the screen, readers can take notes in the bottom part of the tab and a running tally of all notes appears above.



Figure 9: Highlighting in ebrary. This tool elicited positive responses from participants, but several commented that they wished for greater connectivity between their annotations and highlights.

MyiLibrary

Across the board, participants responded negatively to MyiLibrary's system for note-taking. To annotate a particular page in MyiLibrary, the reader goes to the "Notes" tab and selects "Create/Edit Notes." The reader is then taken away from the text of the book to a new window for typing notes (Figures 10 and 11). Participants felt that it would be more convenient to be able to refer back to the text of the book while taking notes. One individual explained that this step interrupted the reading process. Participants did not find it easy to move back to the text once they were in MyiLibrary's window for note-taking. To move back to the book from the notes window, the reader must select a link that says, "close window." This link is not very large, however, and four participants did not see it.

Two participants also pointed out that it would be beneficial if MyiLibrary left an indication of which pages had been annotated. If they were to return to the book and reread a section later on, they would not have any reminder showing them that they had previously annotated a particular page. As one explained, "If I'm reading along in this book, there is no indication that I have noted something on page 30. I'd have to go to my notes to remember that I'd noted something on this page. It'd be nice to have a flag or maybe have a color or something like that."



Figure 10: MyiLibrary's Notes tab. To take notes for a particular page in MyiLibrary, the reader goes to the "Notes" tab and selects "Create/Edit Notes." The reader is then taken away from the text of the book to notes window.

my Dibrary	Agricultural Biodiversity and Biotechnology in Management and Policy, Volume 27.	Economic Development. Natur	al Resource	
TOC Search Notes Dictionary	Page: 64 Print Multiple Pages Download Mult	ple Pages 🔌 Back 🛛 Go to page 📃	Previous Next <	<section>> Citation RefWorks EndNote</section>
		h		
notes admin	Gain, retain and share knowledge my Dibrary			
	Close Window			
If you edit this note for page 64, o	Jick on the 'Update Note' button to save changes.			
Note Title: managment				
Agriculture and				
	Lindete Note Save New Note			
	Opudie Note Dave New Note			
Delete Selected Notes Pri	int Selected Notes			
Select Goto page Note Title (click to view/edit note)			
I 64 policy				
x				
myilibrary pages	í l			
my content my new content				

Figure 11: The notes window in MyiLibrary. *Participants commented that they would like to be able to see the text of the book while typing notes.*

EBL

As with ebrary, participants did not find it difficult to make notes in the EBL platform (Figures 12 and 13), but several comments reflected a desire for more control over how they could take notes. One subject explained, "I would probably use my own notes [taken by-hand on paper], because I feel like I could be more specific." Another participant pointed out that since the notes appear in a column to the left of the text, there is not a way to specify the part of the page that the note refers to. She explained, "I think I would like it if there was something on the page to show me, 'Hey, you marked something.' There's no way to say like...the first two sentences on this page are what I am really interested in." Additionally, two students commented that they would like EBL to have a highlighting tool like ebrary's and, as mentioned earlier, two participants had commented on the fact that ebrary had fewer steps in the annotation process. Before taking notes in EBL, the reader must first go to the "Notes" tab and select "Create Note on Current Page."







Figure 13: Annotating in EBL. After selecting "Create Note on Current Page," readers can then type notes in the orange space on the left side of the EBL screen.

Ebrary

Participants had mixed reactions to ebrary's InfoTools (Figures 14 and 15). One participant described this functionality as "very helpful." Since she is not a native English speaker, she often looks for the definitions of words online. For her, using InfoTools to link to an online dictionary would be faster than having to go to one herself. Another participant thought that this feature would be particularly useful when reading books with many technical terms; with InfoTools, a student could quickly look up unfamiliar terms he came across. While half of the students saw InfoTools' direct linking to online resources as a way to save some time, others did not think that this functionality offered a significant advantage over going to a search engine or online resource in a different browser window. One participant, for example, described InfoTools as "very neat." However, he went on to say that he did not think the tool was especially important since other options exist for finding information. Two students explained that they would not use InfoTools often because they have their own favored online resources for looking up information. "I'm such a creature of habit," one remarked.

Three graduate students also questioned the quality of some of the tools that InfoTools linked to. InfoTools' translating option links to Babel Fish, Yahoo!'s website for translating words in different languages. "I would definitely not do Babel Fish," one participant remarked. Another participant saw a need for a better translator tool, "It's pointless to have the option and then to have it link to Babel Fish which never tells you anything. If they actually had a proprietary translator tool, it would be really cool to have free access to that."

bttp://site.ebrary.com - Marine	Rinterboology in the Twenty-First Century : Problems, Promise, and Products - Mazilla Firefox
Contante Muse Uteblishes	
Excel Matter	H Info 10015 • • • 3 • • 3 • • 3 • • • • • • • • •
Front Matter Preface Preface Contents Bonedical Applications of Marine N Executive Summary Environment Aspects of Marine B Keynote Address Sesson 1: Drug Discovery and Dre- Sesson 1: Drug Discovery and Dre- Sesson 2: Genantics and Fotom Sesson 3: Bometarials and fotom Sesson 3: Bometarials and fotom Sesson 3: Drug Discovery and Dre- Sesson 4: Public Policy, Partnersh Appendix A Committee and Staff Appendix C 2001 Marine Biotechno Appendix 2:001 Marine Biotechno Appendix 2:001 Marine Biotechno	66 MARINE BIOTECHNOLOGY IN THE TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY fold higher than that obtained by traditional microbiological culturing tech- niques. Among the cultured organisms are many unique cell lineages that will be named as new species and genera by microbial systematists. Ninety percent of the cells recovered by the project in these early experiments do not replicate in Petri dishes of agar media, the most common method of microbial cell cultivation.
Appendix E 1999 Marine Biotechno	THE GENOMICS REVOLUTION.
	CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES
	Claire M. Fraser, Ph.D. President, The Institute for Genomic Research
	The Bar Detainery 60 microbia Encycspedia including ha Google Scholer seven this book Frankase disease succ. Search The Book species have Search the Web treatment al Search the Web search the Academic Search Preview Search the Search the Web reatment al Search the Search The Web reatment al Search the Search The Web reatment al Search the Search The Web search the Web Search the Web search t
	matrically de species and tant to keep has focused animal cells. rology now nomic proje from the ge the biology of life on earth. With these immerse data sets in hand, we will

Figure 14: Ebrary's InfoTools menu. *Readers can access this menu by choosing InfoTools from the toolbar or by selecting a word from the page of a book.*



Figure 15: An online resource, linked to from ebrary's InfoTools. When a reader chooses an option from InfoTools, that resource will open in a second tab. In this example, the reader used InfoTools to look up the word "genomics" in an online dictionary.

MyiLibrary

Reaction to MyiLibrary's Available Resources was mixed (Figure 16). Three participants saw these resources as potentially useful. One student explained, "They are kind of neat...it lists a bunch of resources all in one place which could be good for finding things I wouldn't ordinarily expect to find." However, others did not think these resources looked particularly useful. Looking over the list of resources, one student remarked, "There are few things on here that I'm just like…post codes? Really? Why is that on there?"

As with note-taking, MyiLibrary takes the reader away from the text of the book when he looks at the Available Resources list. Participants did not respond well to this set-up; one individual pointed out how problematic it could be to use resources from MyiLibrary's list, "You've gone away from your book now and if you ended up looking at a bunch of different resources, you'd have to navigate back through a lot of pages to get back." Rather than using MyiLibrary's list, several participants commented that they could easily look up information in a different browser window. "Generally, I have references that I know about so I don't think this adds anything," one individual explained. "I think I would open a new tab and I have the Google search bar in my browser, so I would just search there." Six participants said that they preferred ebrary's mechanism for directly linking from a word in a book out to another online resource.



Figure 16: MyiLibrary's page of Available Resources. *Participants did not like being taken away from the text of the book to view this list of resources.*

<u>ebrary</u>

None of the participants had difficulty figuring out how to print with ebrary, but several participants felt that ebrary should convey its printing limitations more clearly (Figures 17 and 18). Ebrary does not allow users to print more than ten pages at a time, but this limit is not conveyed to the user until after he or she has submitted a page range to print. One participant pointed out how this set-up could potentially cause problems for users, "They don't tell you how many pages you can print so I do think that that could be bad if the all of a sudden they just say stop and it was a page that you really needed. That could be bad." When one participant tried to print from pages 21 to 68 of a book, she received a message explaining that the "requested range has been changed to 21-30." This participant cited from personal experience how frustrating it can be to receive a message like this. Another participant wished that ebrary had options other than selecting a page range to print. "I'd probably want to print a whole chapter and it doesn't give me that option." If a student wants to print a chapter from ebrary, he or she would have to figure out what pages the chapter started and ended on.



Figure 17: Ebrary's Print Window. To print in ebrary, the reader selects the printer icon from the toolbar and then enters the desired page range in a print window that appears.



Figure 18: Ebrary's message about printing restrictions. *Ebrary does not allow users to print more than ten pages at a time, but this limit is not conveyed to the user until after he or she has submitted a page range to print.*

MyiLibrary

Several participants did have difficulty determining how to print a range of pages from this platform. As was discussed earlier, MyiLibrary's two toolbars caused confusion for participants when they tried turning pages in books that were displayed in PDF format. The presence of two toolbars was a source of confusion when participants tried to print as well. Of the nine participants who viewed books in PDF format, five went to the printer icon on the Adobe toolbar. They found that this print option only allowed them to print their current page (Figure 19). In order to print a range of pages, they had to select "Print Multiple Pages" from the MyiLibrary toolbar (Figure 20). One participant felt that printing would be easier if the "Print Multiple Pages" option was the standard printer icon, since people automatically go to this icon when they need to print. This participant also pointed out that the menu option "Print Multiple Pages" was small, making it easy to overlook.

On a more positive note, participants appreciated that MyiLibrary was more upfront than ebrary about how much a user may print. When users try to print with MyiLibrary, the printing pop-up menu contains a sentence explaining that they cannot print more than 10 pages (Figure 21). Two participants pointed out that this information was helpful.

	Agricultural Biodiversity and Biotechnology in Economic Development. Natural Resource Nanagement and Policy, Volume 27.
TOC Search Notes Dictionary	🛛 Pagel 64 🛛 Print Multiple Pages Download Multiple Pages 👌 Back. Go to page 🦰 Previous Next. 🖛 Section >> Citation. RefWorks EndNote
Cover Cover	
Foreword Acknowledgment Acknowledgment PART I: Overview and Key Issues PART I: Genetic Resources and Biodiversity: Economic Valuation and Concervanting	Printer Nene: Teads To Constants 2007 Properties: Status: Ready Type: Send to Honopolt Orabide Driver Document and Hanapa
PART II: Distributional Issues in the Management of Plant Genetic Resources PART IV: Biotechnology: Concepts, Values, and Management PART V: Biodiversity,	64
Biotechnology, and Development: Policy Implications - Author Index - Subject Index - Last Page	material store: Mapping reasons and the store of the stor
	The materia Auto-Ridda and Canter Conception of this principle to actual this principle to actual
	a discus. The total a discus a standard a discus
	highly s Advanced in the final for the final highly s Advanced in the final highly s Advanced
mytilibrary pages my content my new content my resources ovailable resources back to search results	 because, as I noted above, two considerations motivate concern for maintaining genetic diversity in agriculture. First, dramatic events could largely or perhaps totally wipe out a crop. Pest infestations or diseases are examples. Resistance to such threats is a qualitative characteristic. Qualitative characteristics often are related to the presence or absence of a

Figure 19: MyiLibrary's Adobe Toolbar printer option. When participants went to the printer icon on the Adobe toolbar, they found that this menu option only allowed them to print their current page.



Figure 20: Printing multiple pages from MyiLibrary. *To print a page range, participants found that they had to select "Print Multiple Pages" from the MyiLibrary toolbar.*

EBL

As they figured out how to print in EBL, three participants commented on ways that EBL could make the process easier. One felt that the print option should be larger. Two others thought that EBL should use the standard print icon rather than the word "print." "I think I am more used to the little image of a printer, so it took me a second longer to see [how to print]." Like MyiLibrary, EBL presents the reader with more information about how many pages he or she is permitted to print from a book. When an individual tries to print in the EBL platform, he is brought to a screen that provides three options: print the current page, print a page range, or select chapters to print from the table of contents (Figure 21). Four study participants commented that they liked having these options. They appreciated that they could select specific chapters to print, rather than having to figure out which page numbers they needed.

EBL's printing screen also provides the user with a summary that explains how many pages he has printed so far and how many pages he can print in all. However, this summary is small and the study participants did not initially notice it. When the researcher pointed out this summary information, six participants commented that this information would be useful. Although she had not initially noticed the printing information, one participant commented, "Now that I know it's very easy to see. It's also good for students who are counting pages that they are printing....so I think it's a really important feature." She went on to describe this feature as "fantastic. That's very userfriendly." Another participant commented on this print summary, "I think that's nice, because it helps you plan." She added, "I like that they are upfront about how much I can print." Considering that participants appreciated this printing summary, this information should have a larger, more prominent position on the page.



Figure 21: EBL's page of printing options. *Participants appreciated that they could print their current page, selected pages, or chapters. They also appreciated the summary detailing how many pages they had printed and how many more pages they were permitted print. However, study participants did not initially notice this summary, indicating that it should be made more prominent.*

Follow-up Questionnaire

At the end of the testing session, each participant was asked to fill out the followup test questionnaire by hand. The first question was meant to gain an overall assessment of which platform was easiest for participants to use. While responses varied here, MyiLibrary was the clear third-place choice. In distinguishing between ebrary and EBL, it is more difficult to determine an overall pick for the easiest platform. Five participants selected EBL. Three other participants selected ebrary and two students felt that ebrary and EBL were equally easy to use. The most common reasons for choosing EBL included the ability to navigate by scrolling and the straightforward printing options.

The second question asked participants if they would be less likely to use certain e-book functions if they had needed to log in with a username and password. Because of time constraints, the researcher had logged participants into each platform before the start of each testing session. However, the researcher wanted to determine if a log in would have discouraged students from using these tools. Despite the fact that participants had been unsure if they would actually use these tools in their academic work, they did not see a log in as a deterrent. Nine participants said that a login would not make them less likely to annotate or highlight. The other participant said that he probably would not use these tools anyway, regardless of the log in.

The next question asked, "If you wanted to search for an e-book, what type of search would you prefer?" Participants could then choose a catalog search that finds both print books and e-books; separate search of the individual e-book collection; or other,

providing their own response. Seven participants selected a catalog search that finds both print and electronic books. These results suggest that the majority of participants do not approach their research with a particular format in mind; they want to view the available resources and then make their decisions about which resources to read.

When asked what would make them more likely and less likely to use e-books in the future, participants commented on a number of usability issues. Among the factors that would increase their e-book use were "straightforward navigation," "simple sites with easy printing, and note-taking," and "easier, more intuitive platforms." Corresponding with these responses, participants listed the following factors that would make them less likely to use e-book in the future: "if they are a pain to use," "confusing, distracting lay-out," "complications," "hard to navigate," and "complicated platforms." Two participants also wrote about the need to be able to access e-books easily from any computer. In addition to usability issues, two participants addressed e-book content; they would be more likely to use e-books if the content was relevant to their academic work. One participant brought up practical considerations, explaining that he would be more likely to use an e-book if there were no print version available; he would be less likely to read e-books if he had to pay for them.

The last part of this questionnaire was meant to look into the potential for using handheld devices for reading e-books. The first question here asked, "Do you use a handheld device for your academic work?" Examples of handheld devices were listed, including cell phones and personal digital assistants (PDA). The next question asked, "If yes, would you like to be able to access e-books through this handheld device?" All but one participant answered "no" to the first question, indicating that there is not currently widespread use of these devices for academic work. Even the participant who answered "yes" did not frequently use her personal digital assistant (PDA) for schoolwork. She explained, "Sometimes I use my PDA phone to look up something if I am not near a computer." Since so many participants did not currently use devices in this way, most of the respondents did not reply to the second question. Thus, it is difficult to come to any conclusions about how much interest students have in accessing e-books through these devices. One participant still answered yes to this question, even though she did not currently do school work on a handheld device. From the participant who sometimes used her PDA to look up information, there was more emphasis to her response, as she answered, "definitely" to this question.

Discussion

While participants' comments reflected individual preferences about each of the platforms, a number of trends emerge, providing insight into the usability issues that students encounter while reading e-books. Navigability stood out as an important issue for all of the study participants. Students clearly value the ability to scroll through a text, rather than having to select a next option from a toolbar. For quickly finding relevant information and for determining the relevance of a book, it is imperative that e-books make navigation as effortless as possible.

Just as individuals expected to be able to scroll while reading in the electronic environment, they also expected to be able to access the text of a book as easily as possible. After selecting a title from their search results, participants experienced difficulty getting to the full-text of an e-book using EBL. In providing her impressions of EBL, one participant explained, "Once I get into the book, I am happy, but it took me a little while to find where I need to go for the book." This process could be simplified by placing the "ReadOnline" button in a more prominent place on the page of search results. Participants found that selecting the hyperlinked title of an e-book in their search results brought them to the "Full Record" page of the book. From here, they expected to be able to access the full-text of the book by clicking on words in the Table of Contents. EBL could make its "Full Record" page more user-friendly by creating hyperlinks to chapters from the Table of Contents. This change, along with a more prominent "ReadOnline" button, would make it easier for users to access the full-text.

As evidenced from participants' reactions to MyiLibrary, readers do not want to be taken away from the text of their book in order to use added value functions. When taking notes or linking to outside resources, participants wanted to be able to refer back to the text of their books. With the exception of this complaint about MyiLibrary, students generally found annotation tools easy to use, but there was no overwhelming response from participants that they would likely use these tools. One participant saw a clear benefit to using an e-book's annotation tools, explaining "The notes that I take on regular paper tend to get lost." However, seven participants did not think they would use an annotation tool. Their comments about note-taking tools reflected individual preferences and study habits. Two participants explained that they rarely take notes while they read; three others explained that they preferred to take notes by hand. Perhaps students will become more accustomed to taking notes in the electronic environment in future years as more academic work moves online. For the time being, however, these note-taking tools do not appear to be a vital feature for e-book platforms to offer. The same can be said for platforms that provide links to outside resources—there was not a clear indication that students found these links to offer much greater functionality over going to other online resources themselves in a separate browser window. On a practical note, librarians may want to consider a long-term study of user behavior to determine if students are more likely to use these features after they have grown more familiar with them. If demand for these features does not increase, librarians should consider less expensive platforms with fewer added value features.

As for printing limitations, study participants understood that they would be restricted from printing an entire e-book or a substantial portion of an e-book. However, they appreciated when a platform was upfront about how many pages they were allowed to print. Rather than receiving a message explaining that their print job had been cut off after ten pages, students would prefer to have information about their printing allotment displayed on the screen while they are selecting which pages to print. Some students will inevitably be frustrated by printing restrictions, but libraries can prevent some of this dissatisfaction by considering which platforms convey these limitations most clearly.

This research also demonstrates the importance of one-on-one usability testing. In addition to revealing which specific features participants found useful, this type of testing revealed the reasoning behind participants' actions and perceptions. For example, when several participants encountered difficulty trying to print, they were able to explain to the researcher that they were accustomed to going to a standard printer icon for their printing needs. In another example of the benefits of this type of testing, the researcher was able to learn from seven participants that they were not sure that they would use an e-book's annotation tools, citing a variety of reasons. These types of comments would not have been uncovered in a test focusing on quantifiable measures such as error rate or satisfaction ranking. By using qualitative data gathered in individual testing sessions, the researcher was able to examine other dimensions of the user experience, such as which features did or did not enhance the reading process.

Limitations of this study

As a non-random sample, the responses of these subjects may not be representative of the general student body. All of the undergraduate participants and two graduate student participants had responded to the fliers advertising the study; the other three graduate students were recruited by the researcher via email. Considering those students who responded to fliers, it is possible that they have a greater interest in e-books and more experience using e-books than the average student.

It should also be considered that participants may behave differently in a testing environment than they would if they were reading an electronic book for class. While this study involved performing tasks assigned by a researcher, students may respond and react differently if they were using e-books for their own academic needs. An additional limitation of this study is that the testing sessions were limited to forty-five minutes. As Dillon (2001) points out, usability testing often overlooks the dynamic nature of the user experience. Students' opinions about an e-book platform and its features may evolve over time. While one platform may have initially seemed difficult to use, a student may grow to like this platform over time, learning to appreciate the features that originally caused confusion for him. The testing time also limited participants to reading just a few pages from each e-book. As they read, many participants commented that it was more convenient to move from one page to the next by scrolling rather than by using a toolbar. However, students may have different preferences when they are reading for longer periods of time.

Time limitations also prevented participants from being able to explore all of the aspects of the platforms. For example, participants were not able to look at MyiLibrary

books in both HTML and PDF, nor was there time to view EBL books as PDFs rather than images. The limited time frame also meant that participants were not able to try certain tools, such as bookmarking pages within e-books or creating their own personal workspaces for storing their e-books and notes for future reference. It is possible that students would have found some of these tools particularly useful, thus swaying their overall thoughts about the platforms.

A final limitation involves the screen size of the computer used in this research study. The pages of e-books will display differently depending on the size of the computer screen. For example, if one views an e-book with ebrary's QuickView, the pages of the book take up a greater portion of the screen when using a computer with a smaller screen. These display differences may affect readers' perceptions of e-book platforms.

Conclusion

Librarians must consider a host of important issues when choosing an e-book platform, including the quality of content offered, licensing agreements, the number of simultaneous users allowed, and pricing options. Usability should serve as a significant factor in this decision making process as well. In order for libraries to provide students with resources that successfully meet their research needs, they must provide access to ebooks which are both easy and satisfying to use.

This research study has identified usability issues that students encounter using the ebrary, MyiLibrary, and EBL platforms. While the focus is on these three platforms, the study aims to serve as more than just a product review. As a further reaching objective, this study endeavors to provide information that librarians may want to consider when evaluating an e-book platform. From usability testing, several issues stand out. Students want flexible navigational options, including the ability to scroll. They also want platforms to clearly convey information through prominent menu options and icons. Students responded negatively to being taken away from the text of their books to a new screen; they want the text of the book to remain in their browser window while using other platform functions. Additionally, this study has determined that while students enjoy different types of e-book features, such as annotation and highlighting tools, there was no overwhelming response from students that they would actually use these tools. These responses demonstrate the importance of usability in the adoption of new technology. Students will not use these technologies in their academic work unless they find that these technologies are user-friendly and that they present value to their work.

The results gathered in this research raise questions about how students use print and electronic resources in their academic work. For example, how do they navigate and annotate their reading materials? The electronic environment provides an array of tools for students to use in their academic work, but how do they apply this technology in their research and assignments? These issues merit further investigation as students conduct more and more academic work electronically. Future research in this area should focus on usability as it plays an important role in how students perceive and interact with new technology, ranging from e-books to hand-held devices.

Works Cited

- Abdullah, N. & Gibb, F. (2008). Students' attitudes towards e-books in a Scottish higher education institute: part 1. *Library Review*. 57(8), 593-605. doi:10.1108/00242530810899577
- Anuradha, K. & Usha, H. (2006). Use of e-books in an academic and research environment. *Program: Electronic Library and Information Systems*, 40(1), 48-62. doi:10.1108/00330330610646807
- Bailey, T. (2006). Electronic book usage at a Master's Level 1 university. *Journal of Academic Librarianship.* 32(1), 52-59. doi:10.1016/j.acalib.2005.10.004
- Ceaparu, I., Lazar, J., Bessiere, K., Robinson, J., & Shneiderman, B., (2004). Determining causes and severity of end-user frustration. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*. 17(3), 333-356. doi:10.1207/s15327590ijhc1703_3
- Chiu, C., Hsu, M., Sun, S., Lin, T., & Sun, P. (2005) Usability, quality, value and elearning continuance decisions. *Computers & Education*, 45(4), 399-416. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2004.06.001
- Christianson, M., & Aucoin, M. (2005). Electronic or print books: Which are used? *Library Collections, Acquisitions, and Technical Services, 29*(1), 71-81. doi: 10.1016/j.lcats.2005.01.002
- Chu, H. (2003). Electronic books: viewpoints from users and potential user. *Library Hi Tech*, *21*(3), 340-46. Retrieved from Emerald database.
- Croft, R., & Bedi, S. (2005). E-books for a distributed learning university: the Royal Roads University case." *Journal of Library Administration*. 41(1/2), 113-137. doi:10.1300/J111v41n01_10
- Dillon, A. (2001). Beyond usability: process, outcome, and affect in human computer interactions. *Canadian Journal of Information and Library Science*. 26(4), 57-69. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier database.

- Frokjaer, E., Hertzum, M., & Hornbaek, K. (2000). Measuring usability: are effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction really correlated? *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 345-352. doi:10.1145/332040.332455
- Garoufallou, E., Siatri, R., & Balatsoukas, P. (2008). Virtual maps-virtual worlds: Testing the usability of a Greek virtual cultural map. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science*. 59(4), 591-601. doi:10.1002/asi.20768
- Grudzien, P. & Casey, A.M. (2008). Do off-campus students use e-books? *Journal of Library Administration, 48*(3/4), 455-466. doi:10.1080/01930820802289532
- Hernon, P., Hopper, R., Leach, M., Saunders, L., & Zhang J. (2007). E-book use by students: undergraduates in economics, literature, and nursing. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 33(1), 3-13. doi: 10.1016/j.acalib.2006.08.005
- Jamali, H., Nicholas, D., & Rowlands, I. (2009). Scholarly e-books: the views of 16,00 academics. Aslib Proceedings: New Information Perspectives. 61(1) 33-47. Retrieved from Emerald Insight.
- Langston, M. (2003). The California State University E-book Pilot Project: implications for cooperative collection development. *Library collections, acquisitions, & technical services.* 27(1) 19-32. Retrieved from ScienceDirect.
- Levine-Clark, M. (2006). Electronic book usage: a survey at the University of Denver. *Portal: Libraries and the Academy*, 6(3), 285-299. doi:10.1108/01604950710721548
- Littman, J. & Connaway, L. S. (2004). A circulation analysis of print books and e-books in an academic research library. *Library Resources and Technical Services*, 48(4), 256-262. Retrieved March 26, 2008 from Academic Search Premiere Publications database.
- McFall, R. (2005). Electronic textbooks that transform how textbooks are used. *The Electronic Library*. 23(1), 72-81. doi:10.1108/02640470510582754
- McFall, R., Dershem, H., & Davis, D. (2006). Experience using a collaborative electronic textbook: bringing the 'guide on the side' home with you. *Proceedings of the 37th SIGCSE technical symposium on computer science education*, 339-343. doi:10.1145/1121341.1121448.

- Morris, A. & Balatsoukas, P. (2006). Usability evaluation of ebrary and overdrive ebook online systems. In Brophy, P., Craven, J., & Markland, M. (Eds.), *Libraries Without Walls 6: Evaluating the distributed delivery of library services* (pp. 211-33). London: Facet Publishing.
- Nicholas, D., Rowlands, I., Clark, D., Huntington, P., Jamali, H.R., &Olle, C. (2008). UK scholarly e-book usage: a landmark survey. *Aslib Proceedings: New Information Perspectives*, 60(4), 311-334. doi:10.1108/00012530810887962
- Nielsen, J. (1998, 26 July). Electronic books—a bad idea. Retrieved March 19, 2009, from Useit.com. <u>http://www.useit.com/alertbox/980726.html.</u>
- Nielsen, J. (2000, 19 March). Why you only need to test with five users. Retrieved November 14, 2008, from Useit.com. <u>http://www.useit.com/alertbox/20000319.html</u>.
- Rubin, J. (1994). Handbook of usability testing. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Safley, E. (2006). Demand for e-books in an academic library. *Journal of Library Administration*. 45(3/4), 445-457. doi: 10.1300/J111v45n03_09
- Toms, E., Dufour, C., & Hesemeirer, S. (2004). Measuring the user's experience with digital libraries. International Conference on Digital Libraries. *Proceedings of the 4th ACM/IEEE-CS joint conference on Digital libraries*. 51-52. doi: 10.1109/JCDL.2004.1336097
- Wilson, R., Landoni, M., & Gibb, F. (2002). A user-centered approach to e-book design. *The Electronic Library.* 20(4), 322-330. doi: 10.1108/02640470210438865
- Wilson, R., Shortreed, J., & Landoni, M. (2004). A study into the usability of eencyclopedias. *Proceedings of the 2004 ACM Symposium on Applied Computing*, 1688-1692. Retrieved from the ACM Digital Library. doi:10.1145/967900.968235

Appendix A

Initial Questions				
Please write your answers to the following questions:				
1. Age:				
2. What year are you in school?				
Freshman				
Sophomore				
Junior				
Senior				
Graduate Student				
3. What is your major or course of study?				
4. Have you ever used e-books before?				
If yes, how did you find the e-books? (For example, did you find the e-books through a				
Google search? Did you find the e-books through the UNC Library catalog?)				
5. Have you ever used an e-textbook?				

The usability testing will now begin. Three different e-book platforms are open in different tabs in your browser window. These platforms come from three different e-book aggregators: ebrary, Ebook Library (EBL), and MyiLibrary. You will be asked to perform a series of tasks with each of the three e-book platforms. These tasks are printed on the following pages of this packet. Several questions follow each task. You will answer these questions out loud as you complete the tasks.

Appendix B

Part 1: Finding and Reading e-books

You will begin by searching for a term in each of the three e-book platforms. Your search term will depend on your major or subject discipline.

- If you study a science, you will search for biotechnology.
- If you study a social science, you will search for globalization.
- If you study the humanities, you will search for Zora Neale Hurston.

Ebrary

- 1. Search the collection for your search term.
- 2. Select an item from the results list.
- 3. Read several pages from anywhere in the book.
 - What are your impressions of the ebrary layout?
 - What do you like about the layout?
 - What do you dislike?

MyiLibrary

- 1. Search the collection for your search term
- 2. Select an item from the results list.
- 3. Read several pages from anywhere in the book.
 - What are your impressions of the MyiLibrary layout?
 - What do you like about the layout?
 - What do you dislike?

EBL

- 1. Search the collection for your search term.
- 2. Select an item from the results list.
- 3. Read several pages from anywhere in the book.
 - What are your impressions of the EBL layout?
 - What do you like about the layout?
 - What do you dislike?

Comparing the three e-book platforms

After looking at books in each of the three platforms, do you find one platform easier to use than the others? Explain.



Part 2: Highlighting and Taking Notes



EBL

To highlight text, you will need to download your book.

1. To make a note, click on the "Notes" tab.



- 2. Choose "Create Note on Current Page."
- 3. Type your notes.
 - What do you think of EBLs note-taking option?
 - Would you use the take notes on EBL's if you were reading an e-book for classwork?
 - Why or why not?

Comparing the three e-book platforms

• Compare the note-taking functions in the three platforms. Do you find one platform easier to take notes with than the others? Explain.
Part 3: Using an e-book platform to link to other online resources

Ebrary

Ebrary's InfoTools links to additional resources so that you can expand your research. For example, you can search a dictionary or an encyclopedia.

- 1. Move to the ebrary Reader window .
- 2. Try using InfoTools by selecting a word on the page. The InfoTools menu will come up when you do this.
- 3. Try one of the options on the InfoTools menu.

Contents Notes Highlights	🛃 InfoTools 🔹 🎼 📕	opary	🔍 🛄 🚄 र
Front Matter	Ency	dopedia •	
- Preface	Comp.	la Cabalas	
- Contents	GOOG	je scriolar	
- Biomedical Applications of Marine N	6000	jie Maps	
- Executive Summary	Tran	slate 🕨	
- Environmental Aspects of Marine B	/0 Sear	ch This Book	ENTY-FIRST CENTURY
Keynote Address	as needed for Sear	ch ebrary	olic protein could be
 Session 1: Drug Discovery and Dev 	the key comp Sear	ch the Web	
- Session 2: Genomics and Proteomic	BioPolyn Sear	ch UNC Catalon	zially designed adhe-
- Session 3: Biomaterials and Bioengi	sive formulati Sear	ch Academic Search Premier	elopment programs.
- Session 4: Public Policy, Partnershi	and joint yen		arkets. Customers in
 Appendix A Committee and Staff B 	biomedical res High	light 🕨	mplify the manipula-
- Appendix B National Research Cou	tion of cells at Add	To Bookshelf	
Appendix C 2001 Marine Biotechno	BioPolyn		loping and commer-
Appendix D 2001 Marine Biotechno	cializing nove Copy	/Text	and industrial mar-
- Appendix E 1999 Marine Biotechno	kets That cor Copy	, Bookmark	Vaite's discovery of a
	decaneptide (s Print		ited 85 times to com-
	prise the mus Print	Again	sing this technology
	from the Uni	- Inguini	585 and 4 687 740)
	the company V Togg	le Automenu	mence and variations
	of it for comr		at known at the time
	which amino	erences	tarting point for the
	decapentide		taiting point for the
	The must	ut ebrary Reader	nany substrates and
	Taboratory research indicated that extracted and synthetic protein polymers could stick to almost any substance, such as rock, plastic, metal, glass, Teflon, and skin. Even though the original concept was never demon- strated to work as an adhesive or coating in a medical or industrial environ- ment, the fact that the musus calanchors itself by a collagen bysus thread to these surfaces supported the notion that the MAP could also adhere to the collasm of theiring alticuts. Develop of their themes uses metal of the accuracia		atic protain polymers
			plastia metal glass
			or industrial environ
			agen busers thread to
			agen byssus thread to
	bility of the new company.		
	During its first 2 wars. DiaBalumars astracted the natural MAD and		
	User: Not signed in Page 70 (82 of 129	9)	

- What are your impressions of InfoTools?
- Would you use InfoTools if you were reading an e-book for school?
- If you wanted to find out more about a term in an e-book, would you use InfoTools or would you rather use another online resource, such as a search engine like Google?

MiLibrary

MyiLibrary provides a list of resources that are freely available online.

1. Select "available resources" from the menu on the left.



- 2. Try one of the options from the list of "Available Resources."
 - What are your impressions of MyiLibrary's Internet Resources?
 - Would you use any of these resources if you were reading an e-book for school?
 - If you wanted to find out more about a term in an e-book, would you use these resources or would you rather use another online resource, such as a search en-

EBL

EBL does not have a comparable option for accessing Internet resources.

Comparing the e-book platforms

- Compare ebrary and MyiLibrary's options for accessing Internet resources.
- Which is easier to use? Explain.
- Which platform's resources would be most useful for class assignments?

Ebrary

- Try printing several pages.
- What are your impressions of ebrary's printing options?

MyiLibrary

- Try printing several pages.
- What are your impressions of MyiLibrary's printing options?

EBL

- Try printing several pages.
- What are your impressions of EBL's printing options?

Comparing the three e-book platforms

• Which platform makes it easiest to print? Explain.

Appendix C

Wrap-up Questions

1. Keeping in mind all of the tasks you have completed with each platform, was one of the ebook platforms easier to use than the others?

If yes, please explain what made this e-book platform easier to use.

2. In order to use functions such as highlighting and annotating, readers must login to the ebook platforms with a username and password. Would a login requirement make you less likely to use those functions?

3. If you wanted to search for an e-book, what type of search would you prefer? (Choose one.)

- a catalog search that finds both print books and e-books
- a separate search of the individual e-book collection
- other _____
- 4. What would make you more likely to use e-books in the future?
- 5. What would make you less likely to use e-books in the future?
- 6. Do you use a handheld device for your academic work? (Examples of handheld devices: iPhone, iTouch, iPod, other cell phone, or PDA)

If yes, would you like to be able to access e-books through this handheld device?